STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHNATHAN GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001414

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Aug 04 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the trial judge did not err in allowing the witness to testify that on a prior occasion Petitioner assaulted her when the testimony was not relevant, did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b), the State failed to prove the alleged prior assault by clear and convincing evidence and the probative value of the alleged prior assault was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the trial judge did not err in allowing the witness to testify that on a prior occasion Petitioner threatened to blow the witness's face off when the testimony did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b), the State failed to prove the alleged prior threat by clear and convincing evidence and the probative value of the alleged prior threat is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2016, the Orangeburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Johnathan Green, for several counts of attempted murder. In August of 2016, the Orangeburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for one count of discharging a firearm into a dwelling, indictment #2016-GS-38-1244. (R. p. 476). On October 25, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson on two counts of attempted murder, indictments #2016-GS-38-223, 224 and the one count of discharging a firearm into a dwelling. (R. p. 494-497). Byron E. Gipson represented Petitioner at trial. Tommy Scott and Josh Edwards prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and Judge Dickson sentenced Petitioner to two thirty (30) year concurrent sentences for attempted murder and ten (10) years concurrent for discharging a firearm into a dwelling. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 4, 2016, and the direct appeal perfected. On July 22, 2020, a three-judge panel of the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in an unpublished opinion. State v. Johnathan Green, Op. No. 2020-UP-219 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 22, 2020). A timely petition for rehearing was filed on August 5, 2020, and then denied on September 22, 2020. The petition for writ of certiorari was filed on October 22, 2020. The State filed a return on November 18, 2020. On July 6, 2021, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The jury found Petitioner guilty of shooting at the mother of his child, Elise Hogges, and her boyfriend at the time, Ken Minus, on December 13, 2015. According to Hogges she and Minus were in the car on the way to Santee, their “little get away spot,” when they saw Petitioner driving his mother’s truck. (R. p. 115, lines 2-18). According to Minus, Petitioner gave them a dirty look so Minus sped up. (R. p. 152, lines 15-22). Minus testified that when he sped up Petitioner also sped up and started driving erratically. (R. p. 152, lines 23-25). Hogges testified that she was scared and called 911. (R. p. 116, lines 13-16). A high-speed chase ensued as Minus drove toward Omega Court where some of his family members lived. (R. p. 119, lines 2-21). Hogges testified that once they arrived at Omega Court they ran inside the house. (R. p. 121, lines 2-19). Hogges testified that she heard gunshots as somebody she could not see shot into the house. (R. p. 122, lines 1-18). Nobody was injured from the gunshots. Petitioner was arrested a few days later.

Prior to trial Petitioner moved to suppress evidence about three prior acts allegedly committed by Petitioner against Hogges. During the pre-trial hearing Hogges testified about an alleged incident almost a year earlier in January of 2015, an alleged incident when Petitioner allegedly pulled a gun on her in front of their daughter and an alleged incident at Thanksgiving. The judge properly suppressed any testimony in regard to the alleged incident of pulling a gun in front of the daughter. (R. p. 30, lines 3-13). The judge, however, allowed evidence about the alleged January incident and the alleged Thanksgiving incident. The two alleged prior incidents are addressed separately below.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A ruling on the admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law.’ State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 123-24, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008) (citation omitted).” State v. Morales, 433 S.C. 196, 201, 857 S.E.2d 383, 385 (Ct. App. 2021).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial judge did not err in allowing the witness to testify that on a prior occasion Petitioner assaulted her when the testimony was not relevant, did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b), the State failed to prove the alleged prior assault by clear and convincing evidence and the probative value of the alleged prior assault was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE.**

During the pre-trial hearing to suppress evidence of alleged prior bad acts Elise Hogges, the mother of Petitioner's child, testified that during an alleged incident in January of 2015, when Hogges picked up their daughter from Petitioner's mother's house Petitioner "... pulled my hair, snatched my hair out and pulled it from scalp." (R. p. 13, lines 19-23). She also testified that, "He bust my tire and threw my keys in the woods." (R. p. 14, line 4). Hogges admitted that she did not call the police but testified that she went to the sheriff's department and filed a report. (R. p. 15, lines 15-22). The officer who took the report noted that he did not observe any physical injury. (R. p. 26, lines 1-5). The sheriff's department did not press charges against Petitioner for the alleged January incident. (R. p. 26, lines 8-18).

The trial judge preliminarily denied the motion to suppress both the January of 2015, alleged incident as well as an alleged Thanksgiving incident which is addressed in issue two below. (R. p. 30, line 12 – p. 31, 32, lines 1-24). The judge stated, "It kind of goes along with the January event that shows the animus between them. And there are a couple of cases where there's domestic violence you can use that testimony later on, a prior domestic violence even in an assault and battery with intent to kill. And so I've got some cites here if you are interested, but I - -" (R. p. 31, line 24 – p. 32, lines 1-4). Counsel for Petitioner responded, "I understand Judge. But to call it domestic violence when it's never been charged or there was never a chance for Mr. Green to face an accuser to have his, you know, chance to defend himself because there

was never a charge brought.” (R. p. 32, lines 5-9). The judge indicated that he was not inclined to suppress the prior bad act. (R. p. 32, lines 13-17).

At trial the prosecutor asked Hogges about the January incident and the judge noted Petitioner’s objection. (R. p. 111, line 20 – p. 112, lines 1-2). Hogges then was allowed to testify about the alleged January incident. (R. p. 112, lines 7-17). Hogges told the jury:

We had an agreement to pick my child up from his mom’s house. And when I got there, he arrived as I was getting – putting my daughter in the car. And he reached in and snatched my keys out my ignition and in the process of me trying to, you know, get my keys back – I was trying to like protect my daughter from seeing it. And he came around the front of the car and he grabbed my hair. And he pulled me to the ground by my hair and ripped my sewing out. And that’s when he punched me. And his mom came off the porch and, you know, she was trying to get him off of me. And she called the police and made a report.

(R. p. 112, lines 7-17).

The trial judge erred in allowing the witness to testify about an alleged incident that took place almost a year before the shooting. The testimony was irrelevant and did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b). There was no connection of cause and effect between the January allegation and the December shooting. The January allegation was too remote in time to be probative of motive, intent or malice in the December shooting. Additionally, the State failed to prove the alleged prior assault by clear and convincing evidence. Finally, any probative value of the alleged prior allegation was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rules 403, 404(b), SCRE. The testimony constituted inadmissible propensity evidence that should have been excluded.

Relevance

First, the testimony about the alleged January 2015, incident that took place almost a year prior should have been excluded because it was not relevant. In State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154–55, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009), this Court wrote:

As a threshold matter, the trial judge must initially determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant as required under Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Rule 401, SCRE (“ ‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”).

Testimony about the alleged January 2015, incident was not relevant. Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. The testimony about an alleged incident in January, almost one year earlier, did not make the existence of any fact of consequence in the attempted murder trial more or less probable. The January allegation, involving Hogges picking up their child, is not relevant as to whether Petitioner was guilty of attempted murder in December for shooting at Hogges and her boyfriend at the time, Minus. The alleged January incident had nothing to do with a boyfriend. The attempted murder charges had nothing to do with the child. The testimony should have been excluded as irrelevant.

In affirming the convictions the Court of Appeals found that both the alleged January 2015, allegation and the Thanksgiving allegation admissible and with regard to relevance wrote:

State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004) (“For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant.”); State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009) (“Evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” (citing Rules 401 & 402, SCRE)); Rule 401, SCRE (providing relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence”);

State v. Green, No. 2016-002256, 2020 WL 4201818, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. July 22, 2020). The Court of Appeals erred. There is no evidence to support the finding that testimony about the January allegation is relevant to the December shooting. The January allegation is too remote in

time to be relevant as defined by Rule 401, SCRE. The alleged assault in January of Hogges when she was picking up their child does not make it more or less probable that Petitioner shot at Hogges and her boyfriend almost a year later in December.

The present case is distinguished from State v. Sweat where the Court of Appeals found that evidence of domestic violence in October was relevant to the charged crimes that took place in December because the October domestic violence went to motive and intent for the December attack for which Sweat was charged. “We agree that both motive and intent can be inferred from the prior bad act. Following the October assault, Robin reported Sweat's conduct and Sweat spent forty-five days in jail. He was released eleven days before the December incident occurred. Robin became involved with Blake and refused to resume her relationship with Sweat. Within days, Sweat perpetrated the December 11 attack. Thus, the October incident and Sweat's time in jail relate to his actions on December 11, 2001.” Sweat, 362 S.C. at 124, 606 S.E.2d at 512. The Court of Appeals then addressed relevancy and wrote, “The October incident was relevant as it suggested motive and intent and tended to make the State's version of the case more probable. While not strictly necessary to the State's case, it was logically related to why Sweat went to the house that night and to his intentions once there. We find the trial judge did not abuse her discretion by concluding the October incident was relevant to the event that took place on December 11, 2001.” Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 514.

In Sweat the prior domestic violence from October was relevant because the State argued the charged December crimes were partly in retaliation for the girlfriend causing Sweat to be jailed for forty-five days as a result of the October domestic violence. The charged December crimes took place only eleven days after Sweat was released from jail on the October criminal domestic violence charge. The October incident was relevant to the December charged crimes.

In contrast, in the present case, the January assault allegation involving Hogges picking up their daughter is not relevant to the charged attempted murder of Hogges and Minus. The January allegation is too remote, unlike the domestic violence in Sweat, to be relevant to the December charges. As discussed below, the January allegation does not show motive and intent as the Court of Appeals found in Sweat.

The present case is also distinguished from State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009). In Wiles the Court wrote:

Here, the evidence of petitioner's escape was logically relevant for several reasons. First, the evidence of escape shows his **motive** for fleeing from police; thus, it was relevant on the failure to stop for a blue light charge. *See* Rule 404(b), SCRE. Second, the evidence that petitioner was an escapee was relevant to his alleged **intent** on the ABIK charge. *Id.*; *cf.* State v. Green, *supra* (where the Court held that evidence of appellants' escape from prison, and their status as fugitives, was admissible on the issues of intent and common design in an attempted armed robbery case).

383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at 176. The January allegation is not logically relevant to the December attempted murder charges the way the escape, one week earlier, in Wiles was logically relevant to the failure to stop for a blue light and ABIK. The January allegation is too remote, unlike the escape in Wiles, to be relevant to the December charges. As discussed below, the January allegation does not show motive or intent for the attempted murder charges in December. The January allegation is not relevant and should have been excluded.

Rule 404(b)

Second, the testimony about the alleged January 2015, incident should also have been excluded because the testimony did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b). In State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23–24, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Under Rule 404(b), SCRE, evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is generally not admissible to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged. Such evidence is, however, admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006); State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing. Id.; State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 135–36, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682–83 (2000). Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE (although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice); State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001). The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 cert. denied, 498 U.S. 881, 111 S.Ct. 227, 112 L.Ed.2d 182 (1990).

The testimony about the alleged incident that took place almost a year prior did not show motive, identity, common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident or intent.

In State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 31, 842 S.E.2d 654, 658 (2020), this Court wrote:

Historically, to justify a finding that evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is offered for a legitimate purpose, and thus should not be excluded pursuant to Rule 404(b), South Carolina courts have required a logical relevancy or connection between the other crime and some disputed fact or element of the crime charged. *See, e.g.,* Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731 (“To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged.”); State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 61, 533 S.E.2d 325, 327-28 (2000) (“If the court does not clearly perceive the connection between the extraneous criminal transaction and the crime charged, that is, its logical relevancy, the accused should be given the benefit of the doubt, and the evidence should be rejected.” (quoting Lyle, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807)).

Clarifying the proper standard this Court in Perry wrote:

As we said in Lyle, “Whether evidence of other ... crimes properly falls within any of the recognized exceptions ... is often a difficult matter to determine.” 125 S.C. at 416-17, 118 S.E. at 807. Rule 404(b) of our Rules of Evidence provides, “Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts ... may ... be admissible to show ... the existence of a common scheme or plan” The trial court's standard for making this determination is the Lyle “logical connection” test. The State must demonstrate to the trial court that there is in fact a scheme or plan common to

both crimes, and that evidence of the other crime serves some purpose other than using the defendant's character to show his propensity to commit the crime charged.

430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 664–65.

There is no logical relevancy or connection between the alleged prior January 2015, incident involving Hogges picking up her daughter and the State's allegation that Petitioner attempted to murder Hogges and her boyfriend when he saw them together almost a year later. The State failed to demonstrate that the January allegation served some purpose other than using purported character evidence to show propensity to commit the crimes charged.

The trial judge found that the second incident, the alleged threat in November discussed below, “. . . goes along with the January event that shows the animus between them.” (R. p. 31, line 24 – p. 32, lines 1-4). Showing animus is not an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b). Evidence of prior difficulties must still meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b). Evidence of prior difficulties must serve some legitimate purpose. No connection or logical relevancy exists between the January allegation and the crimes charged in December. Additionally, the January 2015, allegation is too remote in time to show motive, identity, common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident or intent. The testimony about the January allegation did not meet an exception to Rule 404(b) and should have been excluded.

With regard to Rule 404(b), the Court of Appeals wrote:

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