STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 13 2021**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001414

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHNATHAN GREEN,

Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID PASCOE  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main St.  
Summerville, SC 29526  
(843) 871-2643

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

express malice when he threatened to kill Hogges in November, the month prior to the shooting. See Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 663, 594 S.E.2d 462, 471 (2004) (approving a jury charge that stated "malice can be expressed where there is manifested a deliberate intention to violently and unlawfully take the life of another human being. **For instance with words.**") (emphasis added); State v. Coleman, 6 S.C. 185, 186 (1875) ("The best evidence of the state of mind attending any act is what was said and done by the person whose motive is sought for."). "Generally, motive is not an element of a crime that the prosecution must prove to establish the crime charged, but frequently motive is circumstantial evidence. . . of the intent to commit the crime when intent or state of mind is in issue. **State of mind is an issue any time malice or willfulness is an element of the crime.**" State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 124–25, 606 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Danny R. Collins, South Carolina Evidence 319 (2d ed.2000)) (emphasis added). Elise Hogges' testimony about the prior threat and incident of violence was relevant and highly probative of malice, and satisfies the "motive" exception to Rule 404(b).

This rationale overlaps with the line of cases allowing evidence of "prior difficulties" in homicide cases. "Evidence of previous quarrels, ill feeling, or hostile acts between the parties is admissible to show the animus probably existing between them at the time of the homicide." State v. Brooks, 79 S.C. 144, 60 S.E. 518, 518 (1908); State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 296, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980) ("Evidence of previous difficulties or ill feelings between the accused and the victim and of facts showing the cause of such difficulties or ill will is admissible on the

question of motives where there is some connection of cause and effect between the evidence and the crime.") (citations omitted). Surely, a bitter breakup qualifies as "ill feelings" sufficient to motivate a person to commit an act of violence. See State v. Sweat, 363, S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508 (evidence of tumultuous relationship and breakup admissible to show defendant was "driven by anger" when he attacked ex-girlfriend and her new boyfriend).

Green may argue that jealousy and anger are normal after a breakup, and that the bad act evidence in this case was not necessary to demonstrate Green's motive. First, motive evidence "need not be 'necessary' to the State's case in order to be admitted." State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 234, 433 S.E.2d 831, 833 (1993). Rather, the test is whether the evidence is "logically relevant" to establish a material fact or element of the crime. Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513. Second, this was not a normal breakup. Normal relationships do not end in gunfire. Green's extreme hatred and escalating pattern of violence against Hogges was an integral part of the story, and necessary to explain his extraordinarily violent and malicious attack. Evidence of the prior difficulties between Green and Hogges was relevant to demonstrate Green's motive.

### Intent

The evidence was also highly probative of Green's intent and state of mind. Not only was the State required to prove malice, it was required to prove the "highest possible mental state for criminal attempt" — specific intent to kill. State

v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 64, 810 S.E.2d 18, 27 n.5 (2017) (noting "if there is no evidence that one charged with attempted murder had express malice and a specific intent to kill, we believe the crime would involve a lower level of intent and, thus, would fall within the lesser degrees of the assault and battery offenses"); State v. Kinard, 373 S.C. 500, 503–04, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Malice aforethought' is defined as 'the requisite mental state for common-law murder' and it utilizes four possible mental states to encompass both specific and general intent to commit the crime. These four possibilities are intent to kill, intent to inflict grievous bodily harm, extremely reckless indifference to the value of human life (abandoned and malignant heart), and intent to commit a felony (felony murder rule).") (citing Black's Law Dictionary 969 (7th ed.1999)). Proving "express malice and a specific intent to kill" is a difficult task and high burden, making the prior act testimony extremely probative and important to the State's case.

Intent is seldom susceptible to proof by direct evidence, and is typically proved through circumstantial evidence. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 546, 713 S.E.2d 591, 601 (2011). Intent is only matter of circumstance, which naturally follows and springs out of the facts. Id. (quoting State v. Murray, 72 S.C. 508, 52 S.E. 189, 191 (1905)). Prior difficulties were an integral part of the circumstances of the crime.

The classic example of a case where express malice is shown is when the assailant contemporaneously verbalizes his intent to kill. Absent an expression at the time of the act, the next best evidence of intent to kill is prior threats to kill.

This Court has recognized that evidence of prior threats is admissible under Rule 404(b) to show intent. Blakely v. State, 360 S.C. 636, 639, 602 S.E.2d 758, 759 (2004) (holding prior threats admissible to show intent in ABIK trial).

The proof that Green committed the alleged acts was extremely strong. Both victims identified Green with 100% certainty, and cell phone and other circumstantial evidence strongly corroborated their testimony. However, despite the strength of the State's case, reasonable minds could have disagreed on whether Green specifically intended to kill Hogges and Minus. Evidence of prior difficulties was absolutely crucial to establish Green's intent to kill. The State was entitled to present evidence of prior difficulties to meet its exceptionally high burden of proof that Green acted with intent to kill.

#### Res Gestae

Under the res gestae theory, "evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred." State v. Dennis, 402 S.C. 627, 635, 742 S.E.2d 21, 25 (Ct. App. 2013). Also known as "complete story" principle, see State v. Price, 123 Ariz. 166, 598 P.2d 985 (1979), res gestae evidence is proper where it "is necessary to a 'full presentation' of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its 'environment' that its proof is appropriate in order 'to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context.'" State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366,

370–71 (1996) (quoting United States v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir.1980) (explaining "(t)he jury is entitled to know the 'setting' of a case. It cannot be expected to make its decision in a void without knowledge of the time, place and circumstances of the acts which form the basis of the charge"))).

The State's presentation of its case would have been incomplete without some testimony showing the toxic nature of the Green and Hogges' relationship. See State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 29, 664 S.E.2d 480, 486 (2008) (Toal, C.J., dissenting) (discussing res gestae exception and opining that "evidence that Petitioner abused and neglected the victim just weeks before his death" was admissible under res gestae theory because it showed "escalating abuse" against same victim). Without context, the jury would have been forced to assume the relationship ended in a more normal fashion, and would not have been aware of the pattern of domineering conduct that culminated in Green's homicidal outburst. The testimony was highly relevant because it established "narrative integrity" and allowed the jury to understand the extraordinary animus Green held towards Hogges after the dissolution of their relationship. See Robert P. Moseller et al., 1 McCormick On Evid. § 190.9 (8th ed.2020). The absence of testimony explaining the toxic dissolution of the relationship would have caused the jury to doubt whether Green was capable of such extraordinarily malicious conduct towards the mother of his child, "detract[ing] from the jurors' evaluation of the credibility of [Hogges] testimony." Id. For example, the jury may have disbelieved that Hogges called 911

simply because of the way Green was staring at her as she passed him on the highway. R. 116. Evidence of prior difficulties was admissible as res getae.

#### 403 Analysis

"Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE. Unfair prejudice means "an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 128, 606 S.E.2d 508, 514 (Ct. App. 2004). Even if evidence is "highly prejudicial" to a defendant, where the probative value is also high, the evidence should be admitted. State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 119, 470 S.E.2d 366, 369 (1996) ("The evidence... obviously is highly prejudicial. However, its probative value is also high because the evidence tends to establish [defendant's] intent ... The trial judge properly admitted this evidence.") (citation omitted).

As explained above, evidence of prior difficulties was highly probative to show motive, intent, identity, malice and res gestae. In contrast, the evidence does not suggest guilt on an improper basis. Evidence of the prior difficulties between Green and Hogges was not offered to attack Green's character or to show he had a propensity for violence. The State did not introduce evidence of Green's history of violence in general, or specific instances of violence against other ex-girlfriends. Cf. State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 37, 842 S.E.2d 654, 661 (2020) (evidence of defendant's

sex crimes against separate victim had no logical connection to charged crime). The evidence of prior bad acts was limited to Green's relationship with Elise Hogges and had a clear logical connection to the charged acts. This is a far cry from cases where the State introduced evidence of a defendant's other crimes with no relation to the facts of the underlying case. See, e.g. State v. Smith, 309 S.C. 442, 446, 424 S.E.2d 496, 498 (1992) (holding evidence of defendant's drug use was not relevant to murder charge). The evidence in this case was offered to give context and explain to the jury why Green engaged in this homicidal behavior. This is precisely the type of evidence allowed under Rule 404(b).

Any prejudice that resulted was low. The prior acts were much less severe than the charged acts. They involved an episode of hair-pulling and injury to personal property, and a verbal threat to shoot the victim. Certainly, these acts were not "equally heinous" so as to prompt "a ready acceptance of and belief in the prosecution's theory that he is guilty of the crime charged." State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923). Nor did the State offer extended or unnecessary details of the prior acts. See State v. Thomas, 248 S.C. 573, 583, 151 S.E.2d 855, 861 (1966) (noting prior bad act evidence "was restricted to the minimum requirements of the case"). Hogges' prior act testimony was brief; it fits on two pages of the trial transcript. R. 112, line 6 – 114, line 7.

Green claims the January incident was too distant in time from the incident date to be relevant. This argument is meritless. Both prior incidents happened within the year prior to the incident. There is no set rule as to what lapse of time

will make particular evidence too remote to be probative, and the determination of remoteness is a matter within the discretion of the trial court. State v. Glenn, 328 S.C. 300, 309, 492 S.E.2d 393, 397 (Ct. App. 1997) (no abuse of discretion where prior acts "occurred sometime during the year prior to the incident"). The temporal attenuation between the making of a statement and the crime is of no moment in assessing its admissibility, but rather goes to the weight of the evidence. State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 135, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682 (2000) ("The four month lapse is at most a matter bearing on the weight of the evidence, which was for the jury to determine."); State v. Brooks, 79 S.C. 144, 60 S.E. 518, 518 (1908) (finding no error in admitting a threat made by defendant to victim eight months earlier); State v. Thomas, 248 S.C. 573, 151 S.E.2d 855 (1966) (no abuse of discretion in admitting testimony regarding prior bad act that occurred four years before incident where relevant to motive). The passage of time from the first incident was less than one year; the time from the second incident was less than a month. They did not lose their probative force due to the passage of time. Obviously, Green's malicious feelings had not dissipated.

Green further claims the "alleged prior threat to Hogges-Minus alone did not logically relate to the State's allegation that Petitioner attempted to murder Hogges-Minus and her boyfriend when he saw them together. . . . The motive exception might have been stronger if the prior alleged threat had been made to Hogges-Minus and her boyfriend rather than to Hogges-Minus only." Brief of Petitioner at 14–15. This is incorrect and totally beside the point. Evidence of the

prior difficulties between Green and Hogges was relevant to show Green's motive to kill Hogges regardless of its relevance to Minus, who was only a target because of his association to Hogges. If Green wanted to exclude evidence of prior difficulties as it related to Minus, he should have moved to sever the cases or asked for an instruction to that effect. In this joint trial, evidence of the prior difficulties was admissible to prove the attempted murder charge against Hogges regardless of its relevance to the charge of attempted murder against Minus.

Green is asking this Court to overturn the discretionary judgment of the trial court, even though that court's decision is one that can be overturned only if "clearly untenable." Norris v. Clinkscales, 47 S.C. 488, 25 S.E. 797, 801 (1896). The record supports the trial judge's findings that the incidents occurred, fit a 404(b) exception, and that their probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Considering the high probative value of the testimony, low prejudice, and deferential standard of review, the trial court's decision was well within his discretion. This Court should affirm.

- c. Even if the trial court erred, Green was not prejudiced because admission of prior bad act evidence did not change the result of trial.

Even if this Court determines the trial court erred by admitting one or both of the prior bad acts, the Court should still affirm because the error was not prejudicial. The admission of evidence of either incident did not change the result of trial because evidence of Green's guilt was overwhelming. This Court should affirm.

Even without the prior bad act evidence discussed above, the direct and circumstantial evidence offered by the State in the form of eyewitness testimony, police investigation, expert testimony, and evidence of flight was so overwhelming that Green's guilt was "conclusively proven such that no other rational conclusion could be reached." State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). Even if the court erred, error is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Charping, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993). The determination of the prejudicial effect of prior bad act evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. Details of prior bad act evidence that may not be admissible are deemed harmless where they are minimal. State v. Forney, 321 S.C. 353, 358, 468 S.E.2d 641, 644 (1996) (citation omitted).

The State presented direct evidence in the form of testimony from Ken Minus and Elise Hogges that Green was without a doubt the person who chased them to Omega Court.<sup>2</sup> Other witnesses corroborated their accounts. Delphine Gavin testified she saw Green's vehicle leaving the scene immediately after the shots were fired. R. 183, lines 3–5. Green's mother testified he had possession of the vehicle on the night of the incident. R. 266, lines 14–19.

Green's flight showed consciousness of guilt. Although police notified Petitioner's brother and mother of the attempt on Hogges' life, and that the police wanted to speak with him, Green did not turn himself in. Nor did he return to his

---

<sup>2</sup> R. 116, line 19: "I looked in his eyes." R. 151, line 16. "I saw square in his face."

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